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The past year brought numerous developments in employment law, and
below we discuss our view of some of the most significant decisions affecting this field on a nationwide basis. This discussion includes an analysis of
key rulings, as well as some highlights of the practical implications of
these rulings for employers and employees.

i. fair labor standards act
A. Christopher v. SmithKline Beecham Corp.
On June 18, 2012, by a vote of five to four, the Supreme Court in Christopher v. SmithKline Beecham Corp.1 held that pharmaceutical sales representatives, or “detailers,” were “outside salesmen” and, therefore, exempt
from the overtime wage requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29
U.S.C. § 201 et seq. (FLSA).
Under the FLSA, employers are relieved of their obligation to pay
overtime compensation to employees who are classified as “outside salesmen.”2 In drafting the FLSA, however, Congress did not define the phrase
“outside salesman.”3 Instead, Congress delegated that task to the Department of Labor (DOL).4 In SmithKline Beecham, the Court was faced with
deciding whether detailers are “outside salesmen” as the DOL has defined
that phrase in its regulations.
The case involved detailers who alleged that they were entitled to overtime wages when they worked more than forty hours per week. Under
federal law, detailers are prohibited from selling prescription drugs.5
Instead, detailers call on physicians and attempt to persuade them to
make a “nonbinding commitment” to prescribe, in appropriate cases,
drugs that are sold by the detailers’ employer.6 Each week, the petitioner
detailers spent approximately forty hours in the field calling on physicians,
plus another ten to twenty hours attending events and engaging in ancillary tasks.7 They were paid a base salary, plus incentives based on the sales
of drugs in their territory, but they were not paid overtime wages.8
The petitioners brought suit in the U.S. District Court for the District
of Arizona, alleging that SmithKline Beecham violated the FLSA by failing to compensate them for overtime.9 The district court held that the
detailers were employed in the capacity of outside salesmen and were,
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

132 S. Ct. 2156 (2012).
Id. at 2162.
Id.
Id.
Id. at 2163.
Id.
Id. at 2164.
Id.
Id.
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therefore, exempt from the FLSA’s overtime requirement.10 Upon appeal,
the Ninth Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals agreed.11
In its decision affirming the Ninth Circuit, the Supreme Court began
by addressing whether the DOL’s interpretation of its regulations deserved deference under the doctrine articulated in Auer v. Robbins.12
The Court noted that the DOL’s interpretation of the exemption had
changed over time. (The DOL argued in the lower courts that a “sale”
for purposes of the “outside salesman” exemption required a “consummated transaction,” but it abandoned that test before the Supreme
Court and instead took the position that an employee does not make a
sale for purposes of the outside salesman exemption unless he or she actually transfers title.)
Ultimately, the Court held that the DOL interpretation was not entitled to deference.13 The Court emphasized that the DOL did not provide
“fair warning” to the regulated parties—the pharmaceutical companies—
that would be affected by its new interpretation of the regulation.14 Further, the Court indicated that deferring to the DOL’s position could
impose “potentially massive liability” on pharmaceutical companies,
who would have to pay overtime wages to their nearly 90,000 detailers.15
The Court also emphasized that for decades, the DOL had never initiated
any enforcement actions with respect to the misclassification of detailers
or otherwise suggested that the pharmaceutical industry was violating
the law.16 Such decades-long silence, the Court suggested, indicated
that the DOL had acquiesced in the position that detailers were outside
salesmen.17
Having declined to give Auer deference to the DOL interpretation and
finding the DOL’s interpretation “quite unpersuasive,” the Court then interpreted the regulation itself to determine whether detailers fell within
the outside sales exemption.18
The Court noted that the FLSA’s definition of “sale” provides that
“ ‘[s]ale’ or ‘sell’ includes any sale, exchange, contract to sell, consignment
for sale, shipment for sale, or other disposition.”19 Because the definition
begins with the verb “includes” instead of “means,” the examples outlined
10. Id.
11. Id. at 2165.
12. 519 U.S. 452 (1997) (holding that generally courts should defer to an agency’s interpretations of its own ambiguous regulations).
13. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 132 S. Ct. at 2168–69.
14. Id. at 2167.
15. Id. at 2168.
16. Id.
17. Id.
18. Id. at 2160.
19. Id.
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in the definition are merely “illustrative, not exhaustive.”20 In the Court’s
view, this interpretation of the regulation was further reinforced by the
statute’s use of the broad catchall phrase “other disposition”—which, in
the Court’s view, included getting a physician’s “nonbinding commitment” to prescribe a certain drug, which is the most that detailers can
legally do without violating federal laws governing the sale of prescription
pharmaceuticals.21
The Court also emphasized that detailers “bear all the external indicia
of salesmen.”22 The petitioners were trained to close sales calls by seeking
a physician’s nonbinding commitment; they worked on the road; they
worked with minimal supervision; and they received incentive compensation based on sales within a particular detailer’s territory.23
Finally, the Court concluded that its interpretation comported with
the FLSA’s purpose for exempting outside salesmen, as outside salesmen
are typically compensated well above the minimum wage and have job
functions that do not easily lend themselves to a standard forty-hour
workweek.24
In his dissent, Justice Breyer agreed with the Court’s conclusion that
the DOL’s interpretation of its regulations was not entitled to any particular weight, but he would have reached the opposite result from the
Court’s majority based on his interpretation of the FLSA and the regulations promulgated thereunder.25 In the dissent’s view, a detailer’s primary
duty is not making sales.26 The detailer gives the doctor information
about drugs that his employer manufactures, but at no point during this
process does the detailer sell anything.27 Instead, the dissent suggested
that the work of detailers was akin to that of a promoter who engages
in activities designed to stimulate sales by someone else.28
The Supreme Court’s decision in this case represents a shift in administrative law. Under established precedent, the Court traditionally
deferred to an agency’s interpretation of the statute it was tasked with implementing. In this case, the conservative majority issued a ruling contrary
to the DOL’s judgment. As a result, neither the DOL nor employers
should assume that the Court will automatically grant Auer deference
to agency interpretations.

20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.

Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.

at
at
at
at
at

2172.
2172–73.
2173.
2175 (Breyer, J., dissenting).
2176.

at 2177.
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B. Kasten v. Saint-Gobain
On March 22, 2011, by a vote of six to two, the Supreme Court, in Kasten v.
Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics Corp.29 (“Saint-Gobain”), held that an
FLSA complaint could be “filed” orally. The petitioner, Kasten, worked
for Saint-Gobain. Each day, Saint-Gobain employees had to swipe in
and out using a time clock.30 According to Kasten, the location of the
time clocks required workers to put on their required protective equipment before swiping in and remove the equipment after swiping out, preventing Saint-Gobain employees from getting paid for this activity.31
During Kasten’s employment, he received several disciplinary actions
related to punching in and out of the time clock.32 Ultimately, Kasten
was discharged for violating the company’s time-clock policy.33 Prior to
his termination, Kasten alleged that he had made several oral complaints
to his supervisors about the location of the time clocks, and that employees were not being paid for time they spent donning and doffing protective equipment.34
On December 5, 2007, Kasten filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court
for the Western District of Wisconsin, claiming that Saint-Gobain terminated him in retaliation for his verbal complaints, in violation of the
FLSA.35 The district court granted Saint-Gobain’s motion for summary
judgment because Kasten did not file a written complaint about the location of the time clocks, as required by the FLSA.36 On appeal, the Seventh
Circuit affirmed the district court’s ruling. The Supreme Court granted
certiorari and, ultimately, reversed the Seventh Circuit.
The Court began its analysis of the statute by examining the phrase
“filed any complaint” and concluded that, when “considered in isolation,”
the statutory language “may be open to competing interpretations” of what
it means to file.37 The Court acknowledged that “[f ]ilings may more often
be made in writing,” but emphasized that “the phrase ‘any complaint’ suggested a broad interpretation.”38 Considering only textual sources led the
Court to conclude that “[t]he phrase ‘filed any complaint’ might, or might
not, encompass oral complaints.”39

29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.

131 S. Ct. 1325 (2011).
Id.
Id.
Kasten v. Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics Corp., 570 F.3d 834, 836 (7th Cir. 2009).
Id.
Kasten, 131 S. Ct. at 1329.
Kasten, 570 F.3d at 837.
Id.; see also 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3).
Kasten, 131 S. Ct. at 1331.
Id. at 1333.
Id.
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The Court then turned to “[s]everal functional considerations.”40
Among other things, the Court noted that limiting the anti-retaliation
provision to the filing of written complaints would weaken the enforcement of the FLSA. Moreover, such limitations would particularly disadvantage illiterate or less-educated workers.41 Further, the Court noted
that administrative interpretations of the provision had consistently
applied it to oral complaints.42
In their dissent, Justices Scalia and Thomas argued that the case should
have been decided on an issue that the Court refused to address: whether a
complaint could be filed with a private employer.43 The dissent would
have held that “[t]he plain meaning of the critical phrase and the context
in which [it] appears make clear that the retaliation provision contemplates an official grievance filed with a court or an agency.”44 They argued
that “filed” (whether or not it encompasses oral statements, which they
declined to address) “suggests a degree of formality consistent with
legal action.”45 The dissenting justices noted that the prohibition against
retaliation for filing a complaint appeared in the statute alongside prohibitions against retaliation for instituting a proceeding, testifying in a proceeding, or serving on an industry committee, all of which involve “an
interaction with governmental authority.”46 Finally, they pointed out that
originally there was no private right of action for retaliation, and therefore
it made sense that the statute as enacted required complaints to be filed with
the official who could punish retaliation for that firing.47
In light of Kasten, employers should be mindful of and responsive to
employees’ oral complaints and should carefully consider how to handle
such complaints when they arise. Employers should also consider whether
to establish a specific mechanism by which employees can raise concerns,
as well as record-keeping practices for documenting such complaints, so
that decision makers do not act with incomplete information.
Additionally, in its decision, the Court endorsed a test to determine
whether a complaint is “filed” for FLSA purposes. A complaint is “filed”
when a reasonable and objective person would have “fair notice” that the
employee is asserting statutory rights.48 The Court noted that a “complaint must be sufficiently clear and detailed for a reasonable employer
to understand it, in light of both content and context, as an assertion of
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.

Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.

at 1333–34.
at 1335.
at 1337 (Scalia & Thomas, JJ., dissenting).
at 1338.
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rights” under the FLSA, but it provided no practical guidance as to the circumstances under which that threshold might be met.49 Accordingly, employers should consider whether to provide supervisors with additional
training regarding the FLSA and other relevant statutes, to ensure (as
much as possible) that complaints are appropriately forwarded to the
correct person or department.
Finally, the Court’s holding may have implications beyond the FLSA.
Several other federal statutes—including the Occupational Safety and
Health Act, 29 U.S.C. § 651 et seq.; the Migrant and Seasonal Agricultural Worker Protection Act, 29 U.S.C. § 1801 et seq.; and the Clean
Air Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.—include similar language in their
anti-retaliation provisions. Conservative employers should construe any
statutory language requiring a “filed” complaint to include both oral
and written complaints.
C. Administrator’s Interpretations
At the same time that the DOL’s Wage and Hour Division (“WHD”) is
actively seeking out employers who misclassify workers as independent
contractors or otherwise violate the FLSA, it has ceased its longstanding
practice of offering guidance to employers seeking clarification on specific
wage-and-hour issues. In March 2010, the WHD announced that it
would no longer issue opinion letters offering fact-specific guidance on
the FLSA.50 In the past, employers, employees, and even unions sought
and received guidance on wage-and-hour questions. The DOL opinion
letters were an invaluable resource to employers.
When it announced that it would no longer issue opinion letters, the
WHD informed the public that it would issue “administrator’s interpretations” instead.51 The interpretations are intended to be general guidance
on wage-and-hour issues that would apply to a broader range of
employers and employees than the fact-based opinion letters had.52 The
WHD indicated that the interpretations would be issued only when they
related to “an entire industry, category of employees or all employees.”53
Since 2010, the DOL has issued only three administrator’s interpretations. In 2012, a federal court upheld one of those interpretations.
In September 2006, the DOL issued the 2006 Opinion Letter to
the Mortgage Bankers Association (“MBA”), at the MBA’s request.54
49. Id.
50. Regulatory Agenda Narrative, U.S. DEP’T OF LABOR (Spring 2010), http://www.dol.gov/
regulations/2010RegNarrative.htm.
51. Id.
52. Id.
53. Id.
54. Wage & Hour Div., U.S. Dep’t of Labor, Op. Ltr. FLSA2006-31 (Sept. 8, 2006).
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The letter suggested that financial services employees, including loan
officers, would fall under the administrative exemption to overtime requirements set out in § 213(a)(1) of the FLSA.55 In reliance on the
2006 Opinion Letter, the MBA classified mortgage loan officers as exempt
employees and did not pay them overtime.56 In March 2010, the DOL issued Administrator’s Interpretation 2010-1, which withdrew the 2006
Opinion Letter, stating that it was misleading, overly selective, and narrow.57 The Administrator’s Interpretation then reversed its prior opinion
and, relying on Casas v. Conseco Finance Corp., indicated that mortgage loan
officers were properly classified as nonexempt.58 Prior to reversing its
interpretation of the regulation, the DOL did not follow the noticeand-comment period requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act,
5 U.S.C. § 500 et seq. (“APA”).
In January 2011, the MBA filed a complaint against the DOL, alleging
that the DOL violated the APA by issuing Administrator’s Interpretation
2010-1.59 The MBA argued that once an agency interpreted a regulation,
it could change that interpretation only as it would change the regulation
itself—through the process of notice and comment rulemaking required
under the APA.60 The MBA also argued that Administrator’s Interpretation 2010-1 was arbitrary and capricious and evidenced an abuse of discretion because it conflicted with existing DOL regulations that have been
enforced by numerous courts of law.61
In ruling on cross motions for summary judgment, the U.S. District
Court for the District of Columbia held that the DOL did not violate
the APA by changing its interpretation of the applicability of the FLSA
administrative exemption to mortgage loan officers without using the
APA’s notice-and-comment process or by issuing an interpretation that
conflicted with DOL regulations under the FLSA.62
The court noted that the MBA had failed to prove that it substantially
and justifiably relied on the prior interpretation, as required under previous rulings of the D.C. Circuit.63 Though the court held that agency interpretations could be subject to the notice-and-comment period require55. Id.
56. Mortgage Bankers Ass’n v. Solis, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78270 (D.D.C. June 6,
2012).
57. Wage & Hour Div., U.S. Dep’t of Labor, Administrator’s Interpretation No. 2010-1
(Mar. 24, 2010).
58. Id. (citing Casas v. Conseco Fin. Corp., 2002 WL 507059 (D. Minn. Mar. 31, 2002)).
59. Mortgage Bankers, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78270.
60. Id. at *20–21.
61. Id.
62. Id. at *41–47.
63. See Paralyzed Veterans of Am. v. D.C. Arena, 117 F.3d 579 (D.C. Cir. 1997);
MetWest Inc. v. Sec’y of Labor, 560 F.3d 506 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
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ments of the APA, MetWest, Inc. alleviated the requirement of utilizing
notice and comment when a party did not “substantially and justifiably”
rely upon an earlier agency interpretation.64 Because the prior interpretation had been applied for only four years, there was no evidence of substantial reliance, and the Portal-to-Portal Act, 29 U.S.C. § 251 et seq.,
insulated the MBA from liability if it relied on the 2006 Opinion Letter
in good faith. The court held that there was no substantial and justifiable
reliance, and the DOL was not required to follow the APA procedure.65
Further, the court noted that § 541.203(b) of the FLSA regulations was
not intended to serve as an alternative test for the applicability of the
administrative exemption, but merely enumerated examples of duties
that might apply to exempt employees whose primary duties did not
include selling financial products.66 Therefore, the Administrator’s Interpretation was not inconsistent with the 2004 regulations, or arbitrary,
capricious, or an abuse of discretion.67
In light of the DOL’s success in effectively reversing a prior, employerfriendly interpretation, employers should be prepared for future changes
in the DOL’s interpretations of FLSA regulations.

ii. national labor relations board
A. Social Media Policies
The National Labor Relations Board (“Board”) issued two memoranda in
2012 addressing employer social media policies. The memoranda issued
on January 24, 2012, and May 30, 2012, keyed in on several critical
areas that employers should consider when promulgating social media
policies. Specifically, employers should propound social media policies
that do not interfere with §§ 7 and 8 of the National Labor Relations
Act (“NLRA”). Sections 7 and 8 of the NLRA speak to the rights of employees and unfair labor practices. Social media policies, as well as any
other policies promulgated by employers, must not violate these sections,
as they speak specifically to an employee’s right to participate in concerted
activity.68

64. MetWest, 560 F.3d 506.
65. Mortgage Bankers, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78270, at *42.
66. Id. at *45.
67. Id. at *45–46.
68. NLRA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 157, 158. Some employers have attempted to ensure that their
social media policy is deemed lawful by including a savings clause that states that the policy
will be administered in keeping with applicable laws and regulations. However, when a policy is overly broad, a savings clause does not validate and/or cure the insufficiency of the policy. See NAT’L LABOR RELATIONS BD., OFFICE OF GEN. COUNSEL, REPORT OF THE ACTING
GENERAL COUNSEL CONCERNING SOCIAL MEDIA CASES, MEMORANDUM OM 12-31 ( Jan. 24,
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Both of the aforementioned memoranda found several employers’
social media policies to be overly broad. Most of the social media policies
referenced by the Board in both memoranda included provisions regarding confidential information. The Board found several confidential information provisions within social media policies to be unlawful.
In a case referenced in the May 30, 2012, memorandum, the Board
found unlawful the part of an employer’s social media policy that instructed employees not to share confidential information with co-workers
unless the co-worker needed the information to do his or her job.69 The
Board’s rationale was that limiting the information that co-workers could
share with each other inherently precluded employees from discussing the
terms and conditions of their employment, thereby violating § 7 of the
NLRA.70 Section 7 of the NLRA specifically allows employees to “have
the right to self-organization, to form, join or assist labor organizations,
to bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing,
and to engage in other concerted activities. . . .”71 Additionally, the prohibition to communicate to co-workers only the information needed to do
their job is overly broad and ultimately restricts an employee’s right to
openly discuss the terms and conditions of their employment—again,
not in keeping with § 7 of the NLRA.72 Alternatively, a social media policy that prohibits employees from asserting communication on behalf of
the employer is lawful.73 The Board reasoned that employees would not
construe such a provision as precluding communications regarding the
terms and conditions of their employment.74
Policies that encourage employees to avoid communicating confidential information, when it would be against the law to share the information, does not violate § 7. In a case referenced in the January 24, 2012,
memorandum, a drug store chain issued a social media policy that specifically precluded employees from sharing confidential information and
limited their communication to matters unrelated to the company to
ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.75 The Board
2012), at 8, available at http://www.nlrb.gov/publications/operations-management-memos
[hereinafter NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-31].
69. NAT’L LABOR RELATIONS BD., OFFICE OF GEN. COUNSEL, REPORT OF THE ACTING GENERAL COUNSEL CONCERNING SOCIAL MEDIA CASES, MEMORANDUM OM 12-59 (May 30, 2012),
available at http://www.nlrb.gov/publications/operations-management-memos [hereinafter
NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-59].
70. Id. Employers should note that a policy that encourages employees to “[d]evelop a
healthy suspicion” of co-workers who may attempt to get them to share confidential information is lawful. Id. at 5.
71. NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 157.
72. Id.
73. NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-59, supra note 69, at 17.
74. Id.
75. NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-31, supra note 68, at 17.
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opined that each social media policy should be reviewed on a case-by-case
basis. In the instant case, the Board held that given the company’s requirement to comply with specific regulations, in context, the employees would
not interpret the provision to preclude any discussion regarding the terms
and conditions of their employment.76
In another case discussed in the January 24, 2012, memorandum involving communicating confidential information, the Board upheld the
discharge of an employee for her Facebook posts, concluding that her
posts were not protected under § 7 because they did not concern the
terms and conditions of her employment.77 Where an employee discusses
the job performance of a co-worker or manager, and there is a nexus
between the performance as it relates to the terms and conditions of
employment, the speech is protected. In the referenced case, the Board
opined that the employee was simply complaining about the work ethic
of her co-worker. The actions complained of did not impact the terms
and conditions of the employee or her co-workers.78
Another concern with communicating confidential information that
was addressed by the Board memoranda involves general communication
prohibitions. The Board discourages general prohibitions on employee
communications. Social media policies that encourage employees to
avoid “[o]ffensive, demeaning, abusive or inappropriate remarks” have
been deemed overly broad.79 The referenced language is deemed overly
broad because it may be viewed by employees as precluding criticisms
of the employer, in violation of § 7.80 A social media policy that generally
discouraged “inappropriate” communication would likely withstand
Board scrutiny if the policy provided examples of what the employer considered “inappropriate.”81 Otherwise, the language would likely be considered unlawful because it would be too broad and deemed to chill employees from discussing the terms and conditions of their employment.82
The policy is unlawful because it does not make clear what would constitute inappropriate activity. Additionally, requiring employees to report
76. Id.
77. In the same memorandum, the Board found the provision within the social media policy that threatened discharge and/or criminal prosecution if an employee failed to report the
misuse of confidential information to be unlawful. The Board opined that if it were unlawful
for a social media policy to preclude employees from discussing confidential information,
any policy that would attempt to criminalize the behavior or result in termination would
also be unlawful. Id. at 5.
78. See id. at 10–11 (citing Five Star Transp., Inc., 349 N.L.R.B. 42, 44 (2007), enforced,
522 F.3d 46 (1st Cir. 2008), and Georgia Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Cos., 333 N.L.R.B. 850,
850–51 (2001)).
79. NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-59, supra note 69, at 8.
80. Id.
81. Id.
82. Id.; see also NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-31, supra note 68, at 13.
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communications to management violates the Act because if employees
feel that they have to report union activity, this may discourage employees
from participating in concerted activity.83
Similarly, social media policies that encourage employees to post only
“completely accurate and not misleading” information is overly broad.84
The threshold for whether an employee’s commentary is unprotected is
when it can be considered “a sharp, public, disparaging attack upon the
quality of the company’s product and its business policies, in a manner
reasonably calculated to harm the company’s reputation and reduce its
income.”85 Moreover, when an employer contends that an employee’s
speech should be prohibited, even in the context of speech via a social
media site, such speech must be reviewed under the malice standard.86
Again, in order for an employee’s social media postings to receive § 7
protection, the employee must be engaging in concerted activity. The
postings have to have a specific audience in mind or involve a discussion
regarding the terms and conditions of employment. A case referenced in
the January 24, 2012, memorandum involves an employee who posted a
“status update” on Facebook that included an expletive and the name of
the store where she worked.87 The employee was upset that her supervisor
reprimanded her in front of a regional manager for failing to complete a
task that she contended her manager never instructed her to complete.
The Facebook post received four “likes” from co-workers.88 The employee
was discharged for her comments.
The company issued a new social media policy shortly after the employee’s discharge. The employee brought a claim against the employer
for wrongful termination. The Board did not find that her discharge violated §§ 7 and 8(a)(1). What appears to be prevailing in this case is that the
employee’s posts on Facebook did not generate any specific response from
her co-workers and was not initiated in an attempt to participate in concerted activity. The employee did not have a specific audience—her coworkers—in mind. Instead, the Board construed her Facebook posts as
reflections of the employee’s frustration and discontent with an interaction with her supervisor.89
Alternatively, the Board found the discharge of an employee who
posted on Facebook that she was concerned about being reprimanded
83. Id. (citing Greenfield Die & Mfg. Corp., 327 N.L.R.B. 237, 238 (1998)).
84. NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-59, supra note 69, at 6.
85. NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-31, supra note 68, at 29 (quoting Allied Aviation Serv. Co.,
248 N.L.R.B. 229, 231 (1980), enforced, 636 F.2d 1210 (3d Cir. 1980)).
86. Id. (citing N.Y. Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 280 (1964)).
87. Id. at 6.
88. Id.
89. Id.
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for caring and that she was concerned that employees were being terminated for asking for help to be protected by § 7.90 While her posts may
not have been directed to a particular audience, much like the aforementioned case, her posts pertained to concerted activity. The employee was
concerned about how employees at her company were treated, and ultimately her posts concerned the terms and conditions of employment
for herself and her co-workers.91 The test for concerted activity, set
forth in Meyers Industries (Meyers I),92 asks whether the activity is “engaged
in with or on the authority of other employees, and not solely by and on
behalf of the employee himself.”93
Finally, the Board has deemed social media policies that require permission prior to using the company’s name or logo to be in violation of
§ 7 because they are essentially permission to communicate.94 The
Board held in the referenced case that an employee did not need to obtain
permission to use the company’s logo when discussing or communicating
with co-workers on a labor dispute.95 In the instant case, the Board found
that the proprietary interest of the company did not outweigh the § 7
interest of the employee. In fact, the use of the logo or company’s
name did not infringe upon the proprietary interest.96 “The Board has
long held that any rule that requires employees to secure permission
from an employer as a precondition to engaging in Section 7 activities
violates the Act.”97
B. Confidentiality in Workplace Investigations
In Banner Health System d/b/a Banner Estrella Medical Center and James A.
Navarro,98 the Board determined that any blanket policy that prohibits
employees from discussing an ongoing workplace investigation violates
§ 8(a)(1) of the Act. The facts in the Banner Health case involve a healthcare employee, James Navarro, who complained about a negative performance evaluation that he received.99 Navarro’s initial performance evaluation included negative comments that were predicated on complaints
by co-workers.100 Navarro registered his complaint regarding the nega-

90. Id. at 19.
91. Id. at 19–20.
92. 268 N.L.R.B. 493, 497 (1984).
93. NLRB MEMORANDUM 12-31, supra note 68, at 20.
94. Id. at 14.
95. Id.
96. Id.
97. N.L.R.B. MEMORANDUM 12-59, supra note 69, at 7 (citing Brunswick Corp., 282
N.L.R.B. 794, 794–95 (1987)).
98. 358 N.L.R.B. No. 93, at 1 (2012).
99. Id.
100. Id.
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tive performance evaluation with his company’s human resources department.101 The human resources consultant with his company instructed
him not to discuss the merits of the investigation of his complaint with
anyone.102 This instruction was routine for all complaints. The Board
held that this type of routine instruction to not discuss the merits of an
investigation was unlawful and violated § 8(a)(1) of the Act.103
What is significant about the Banner Health case is that it changed a
common and routine practice by employers that instructed employees
to not discuss ongoing workplace investigations. Oftentimes, employers
instruct their employees to not discuss the facts and circumstances surrounding an ongoing investigation. On its face, it appears that this type
of instruction violates § 8(a)(1) of the Act because it prohibits employees
from discussing the terms and conditions of their workplace and chills
protected concerted activity.
The Banner Health decision provides guidance on when an employer
can reasonably expect an employee to not discuss the facts and circumstances of an investigation. Specifically, the employer has to assert a
“legitimate business justification that outweighs employees’ Section 7
rights.”104 An employer demonstrates a legitimate business justification
when the investigation witness needs protection, evidence is endangered,
there is a potential of testimony fabrication or there is a need to prevent a
cover up.105 When any of the aforementioned conditions is met, an
employer can encroach on an employee’s § 7 rights during the course
of a workplace investigation in order to maintain the integrity of the
investigation. What employers must be conscious of is avoiding blanket
policies that instruct all employees to avoid discussing the facts and circumstances of an investigation regardless of any attenuating factors. As
a practical matter, employers must tailor the instruction to an employee
to avoid discussing the merits of an ongoing investigation with the actual
investigation and ensure that it relates specifically to the employee. More
importantly, the employer has to be prepared to articulate the rationale
behind the instruction in order to avoid violating the provisions of § 7
that specifically allow employees to discuss the terms and conditions of
their employment, as well as participate in concerted activity.106

101. Id. at 2.
102. Id.
103. Id.
104. Id.
105. Id.
106. It is important to note that this decision involved a private employer involving a nonunion employee.
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iii. title vii review
A. Third-Party Retaliation Claims
In 2011, the Supreme Court, in Thompson v. North American Stainless,
LP,107 expanded Title VII retaliation claims by holding that third parties
may bring Title VII retaliation claims because of another person’s protected activity. In Thompson, plaintiff, Eric Thompson, and his fiancée,
Miriam Regalado, were employed by defendant. Regalado filed a sex discrimination claim; defendant terminated Thompson three weeks later.
Thompson brought a retaliation claim against his former employer.
Although both the district court and appellate court found that Thompson did not have standing to bring a retaliation claim because he had not
engaged in protected activity, the Supreme Court disagreed.
The Supreme Court found it was “obvious” that a reasonable worker
could be dissuaded from filing a discrimination charge if she knew that
her fiancé would be fired.108 The Court stated that in addition to the person who engages in protected activity, any plaintiff with an interest “arguably [sought] to be protected” by Title VII also has standing to bring a
Title VII claim.109 Accordingly, third-party victims of an employer’s
retaliatory action based on another person’s protected activity may now
bring a Title VII retaliation claim.
The Thompson Court did not articulate a bright-line test for specific
relationships that qualify for retaliation protection, stating:
We . . . decline to identify a fixed class of relationships for which third-party
reprisals are unlawful. We expect that firing a close family member will almost
always [qualify] and inflicting a milder reprisal on a mere acquaintance will
almost never do so, but beyond that we are reluctant to generalize.110

A survey of cases decided since Thompson demonstrates how courts are
addressing issues such as nonemployees and the types of relationships that
qualify for protection against retaliation. Three courts have addressed the
application of Thompson where plaintiff was not an employee of the same
company as the person who engaged in protected activity.
In Crawford v. George & Lynch, Inc.,111 plaintiffs Tammy Crawford and
Crawford Trucking Company (“CTC”) filed a complaint for harassment
and retaliation against defendant.112 Crawford, the owner of CTC, had
entered into a hauling contract with defendant.113 Defendant contended
107.
108.
109.
110.
111.
112.
113.

131 S. Ct. 863 (2011).
Id. at 868.
Id. at 870.
Id. at 868.
2012 WL 2674546 (D. Del. July 5, 2012).
Id. at *1.
Id.
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that plaintiff CTC should be dismissed from the retaliation count because
CTC was not an “employee” and therefore lacked standing to sue under
Title VII.114
In response, plaintiffs contended that CTC was a proper party in light
of the decision in Thompson.115 Plaintiffs argued that CTC was “within
the interests” sought to be protected.116
The district court found that plaintiffs misconstrued Thompson, stating
that the Supreme Court in Thompson found that plaintiff was within the
interests protected by Title VII because he was defendant’s employee.117
The Crawford court further held that Thompson stated Title VII’s purpose
to be the protection of employees from their employers’ unlawful actions.118 The court concluded that CTC, a nonemployee entity, did not
fall within the interests that Thompson sought to protect.119
McGhee v. Healthcare Services Group, Inc.120 was decided a few months
after Thompson. In this case, plaintiff was employed by a vendor (Healthcare Services Group) (“HSG”) of the company where his wife worked,
Sovereign Healthcare of Bonifay (“Bonifay”).121 Plaintiff ’s wife filed a disability discrimination charge against Bonifay and, soon thereafter, plaintiff was terminated by HSG.122 Plaintiff filed suit, alleging that Bonifay
and one of its employees instructed HSG to terminate his employment
in retaliation for his wife’s protected activity.123
Defendants moved to dismiss the case, asserting that Thompson did not
apply because plaintiff and his wife were employed by different companies, unlike plaintiff and his fiancée in Thompson.124 The McGhee court acknowledged that not every person injured by a Title VII violation could
state a cause of action, but that under the “zone of interest test,” the employers and employees in this case were “intertwined” and could have retaliated against plaintiff ’s wife.125 The court further stated that if a company were allowed to “induce their subcontractors to fire subcontractor’s
employees in retaliation for protected activity,” the purpose of Title VII

114.
115.
116.
117.
118.
119.
120.
121.
122.
123.
124.
125.

Id. at *2.
Id.
Id.
Id. at *3.
Id.
Id.
2011 WL 818662 (N.D. Fla. Mar. 2, 2011).
Id. at *1.
Id.
Id.
Id. at *2.
Id. at *3.
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would clearly be contravened.126 Therefore, the court denied defendants’
motion to dismiss.127
The court in Equal Employment Opportunity Commission v. Wal-Mart Associates, Inc.128 relied on Thompson when holding that plaintiffs had standing to bring a retaliation claim against Wal-Mart for failure to hire them
based on their mother’s protected activity.129 While plaintiffs were not
Wal-Mart employees—just applicants—the court still found that they
had standing because their mother might be dissuaded from engaging
in protected activity if she feared that her children would not be hired
if she did so.130
Because the Court in Thompson did not describe which relationships
qualify for protection from retaliation, several district courts have been
required to address this issue.
Harrington v. Career Training Institute Orlando, Inc.131 involved two employees who, after they began dating, were harassed by their employer
regarding their relationship.132 Plaintiffs filed a discrimination complaint
with their employer, and after the employer fired one of the plaintiffs and
reduced the employment duties of the other, they filed suit, alleging
retaliation.133
Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the third-party retaliation claim
of one of the plaintiffs.134 The court referenced Thompson and stated
that while Thompson “could” be distinguished because plaintiffs in this
case were merely dating and not engaged, the Court’s ruling in Thompson
did not exclude third-party retaliation claims for those who were just dating.135 As such, the court denied defendants’ motion to dismiss.136
The court in Ali v. District of Columbia Government137 involved a thirdparty retaliation claim involving two best friends.138 The court denied defendant’s motion for summary judgment, stating that while best friends
are distinguishable from the engaged couple in Thompson, a jury might

126. Id.
127. Id.
128. 2011 WL 8076831 (D.N.M. Oct. 26, 2011).
129. Id. at *8. Their mother was an employee of Wal-Mart “who had filed a sexual harassment charge against Wal-Mart.” Id.
130. Id. at *7–8.
131. 2011 WL 4389870 (M.D. Fla. Sept. 21, 2011).
132. Id. at *1.
133. Id.
134. Id.
135. Id. at *2.
136. Id.
137. 810 F. Supp. 2d 78 (D.C. 2011).
138. Id. at 88.
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conclude that a worker would be dissuaded from engaging in protected
activity based on actions taken against his friend.139
Cooper v. City of North Myrtle Beach140 also addressed a third-party
retaliation claim involving two friends who were co-workers. The court
found the evidence indicated that the plaintiff alleging retaliation was
friends with the employee engaged in protected activity.141 Relying on
Thompson, the court stated that the circumstances fell somewhere between
the “firing of a close family member” and “a milder reprisal on a mere
acquaintance.”142
The court in Alford v. Hunt County,143 on the other hand, refused to
apply Thompson because there was no evidence that a personal relationship
existed between plaintiff and the employee engaged in protected activity.144 The court stated that plaintiff ’s affidavit established that he met
his co-worker for the first time at the start of her protected activity.145
Accordingly, the court found that plaintiff did not have standing to
bring his retaliation claim.146
Recent lower-court decisions, as well as information from the EEOC,
illustrate that retaliation cases are on the rise. The EEOC reports that
37,334 retaliation charges were filed in fiscal year 2011, up from 36,258
charges in fiscal year 2010.147 This is the largest number of retaliation
complaints filed in a single year.148 The Thompson decision, as well as
recent lower-court decisions, suggest that the manner in which employers
treat employees—as well as third parties—may become an even more
important issue in the future.
B. Defining “Supervisor” for Purposes of Title VII Harassment Claims
On November 26, 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court heard oral arguments in
Vance v. Ball State University149 to resolve a dispute between the circuits
regarding who qualifies as a “supervisor” for purposes of Title VII harassment cases. The issue before the Court is
[w]hether, as the Second, Fourth, and Ninth Circuits have held, the Faragher
and Ellerth “supervisor” liability rule (i) applies to harassment by those whom
139. Id.
140. 2012 WL 1283498 (D.S.C. Jan. 25, 2012).
141. Id. at *7.
142. Id.
143. 2011 WL 5104504 (N.D. Tex. Oct. 21, 2011).
144. Id. at *5.
145. Id.
146. Id.
147. U.S. EQUAL EMP’T OPPORTUNITY COMM’N, RETALIATION-BASED CHARGES, 1997–2011,
available at http://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/statistics/enforcement/retaliation.cfm.
148. Id.
149. 646 F.3d 461, 465 (7th Cir. 2011), cert. granted, 2012 WL 2368689 ( June 25, 2012).
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the employer vests with authority to direct and oversee their victim’s daily
work, or, as the First, Seventh, and Eighth Circuits have held (ii) is limited
to those harassers who have the power to “hire, fire, demote, promote, transfer, or discipline” their victim.150

Plaintiff Maetta Vance, the only African-American employee in the
catering department at Ball State University (“BSU”), complained that
co-workers, including Saundra Davis, used racial epithets and threatened
her.151 BSU investigated, took disciplinary actions when the allegations
were corroborated, and issued warnings to both Vance and Davis.152
Unsatisfied, Vance filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of Indiana, alleging a racially hostile work environment and
retaliation.153
Relevant to the current issue before the Supreme Court, Vance asserted that Davis was a supervisor, subjecting BSU to vicarious liability.154
BSU maintained that Davis was merely a co-worker who had the authority only to direct Vance’s work, not the authority to affect the terms and
condition of Vance’s employment.155
The district court granted BSU’s motion for summary judgment, relying on Faragher v. City of Boca Raton156 and Burlington Industries, Inc. v.
Ellerth,157 cases in which the Supreme Court held that under Title VII,
an employer is vicariously liable for severe or pervasive workplace harassment by a victim’s “supervisor.”158 If the harasser is the victim’s coworker, however, the employer is not liable unless plaintiff proves that
the employer was negligent.159

150. Plaintiff ’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL
2368689 (No. 11-556).
151. Vance, 646 F.3d at 465.
152. Id. at 465–68.
153. Id. at 467.
154. Id. at 469–70.
155. Id.
156. 118 S. Ct. 2275 (1998).
157. 118 S. Ct. 2257 (1998).
158. Plaintiff ’s Petition, supra note 150, at 12.
159. Ellerth, 118 S. Ct. at 2267; Faragher, 118 S. Ct. at 2292–93. The Supreme Court in
Faragher and Ellerth established standards governing employer liability in Title VII harassment cases. Three distinct standards were created: (1) when a supervisor’s harassment is
coupled with a tangible adverse employment action, the employer is strictly liable;
(2) when the harasser is the victim’s co-worker and no tangible adverse action is taken,
the victim must show that the employer was negligent to establish employer liability; and
(3) when the harasser is the victim’s supervisor and no tangible adverse action occurs, the
employer is subject to vicarious liability for a hostile work environment, but the employer
can establish an affirmative defense by showing (a) the employer exercised reasonable care
to prevent and correct the hostile work environment and (b) the victim unreasonably failed
to take advantage of the employer’s preventative or corrective avenues.
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The district court determined that BSU was not vicariously liable for
Davis’s actions because she was a co-worker, not a supervisor.160 Davis
did not have the ability to “directly affect the terms and conditions” of
plaintiff ’s employment, such as the authority to “hire, fire, demote, promote, transfer or discipline.”161 The court then analyzed Vance’s hostile
work environment claims under the “co-worker” negligence standard and
held that as a matter of law, plaintiff ’s claim could not succeed because
there was no evidence that BSU was negligent.162
Plaintiff appealed to the Seventh Circuit, which rejected plaintiff ’s
argument that Davis was a “supervisor.”163 The court reasoned that a
supervisor must have the authority to take formal employment actions
against plaintiff; Davis, however, had the authority only to direct and oversee plaintiff ’s work.164 In other words, Davis was merely a co-worker.165
The Seventh Circuit acknowledged that this rule had been rejected
by both the EEOC and other circuits, but explained that it was, nonetheless, Seventh Circuit law.166 The court affirmed the district court’s
judgment.167
Plaintiff filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the U.S. Supreme
Court, asking the Court to reconcile a split in the circuits regarding the
definition of “supervisor” for purposes of Title VII hostile work environment claims.168
The First, Seventh, and Eighth Circuits limit employer vicarious liability to harassers who have the power to “hire, fire, demote, promote, transfer, or discipline” their victim.169 Under this standard, an employer is vicariously liable for harassment only by an individual who has power over
the formal employment status of his or her victim.170 The Third and Sixth

160. Plaintiff ’s Petition, supra note 150, at 12.
161. Id.
162. Id. at 13. The court also dismissed Vance’s remaining claims against other employees
and her retaliation claims.
163. Vance v. Ball State Univ., 646 F.3d 461, 470 (7th Cir. 2011), cert. granted, 2012 WL
2368689 ( June 25, 2012).
164. Id.
165. Id.
166. Id.
167. Id. at 475.
168. Plaintiff ’s Petition, supra note 150, at 4–5.
169. See, e.g., Parkins v. Civil Constructors of Ill., Inc., 163 F.3d 1027, 1034 (7th Cir.
1998) (“Absent an entrustment of at least some of this authority, an employee does not qualify as a supervisor for purposes imputing liability to the employer.”); Noviello v. City of Boston, 398 F.3d 76, 96 (1st Cir. 2005) (agreeing with the Seventh Circuit’s definition of a
supervisor); Weyers v. Lear Operations Corp., 359 F.3d 1049 (8th Cir. 2004) (reversing a
jury verdict for plaintiff because the employer was not vicariously liable for the actions of
a “team lead”).
170. Noviello, 398 F.3d at 96.
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Circuits have adopted this narrow definition of “supervisor” in unpublished opinions.171
Plaintiff urged the Supreme Court to adopt the standard set by the
Second, Fourth, and Ninth Circuits, which holds employers vicariously
liable for “supervisors” who direct and oversee an employee’s daily
work.172 Courts within the Tenth, Fifth, and Eleventh Circuits have
also endorsed this relaxed definition of the term “supervisor.”173
As additional support, Vance argued that the EEOC’s Enforcement
Guidance provides that an employee is a supervisor if (1) “the individual
has authority to undertake or recommend tangible employment decisions
affecting the employee” or (2) “the individual has authority to direct the
employee’s daily work activities.”174
BSU’s brief in opposition disputed that there was any issue to be
decided and requested that the Supreme Court deny Vance’s petition.175
BSU argued that plaintiff presented no evidence that Davis was a supervisor, other than plaintiff ’s conclusion that Davis was “part of management because she doesn’t clock in.”176
In response to plaintiff ’s argument regarding EEOC guidelines, BSU
noted that the EEOC makes clear that “someone who directs only a limited
number of tasks or assignments would not qualify as a ‘supervisor.’ ”177
BSU maintained that in any circuit, under any standard, as well as under
the EEOC guidelines, Davis would not be a supervisor.178 BSU suggested
that the circuit split was not a compelling issue that needed to be addressed

171. See Griffin v. Harrisburg Prop. Servs., Inc., 421 F. App’x 204, 209 (3d Cir. 2011);
Stevens v. U.S. Postal Serv., 21 F. App’x 261, 263–64 (6th Cir. 2001).
172. See, e.g., McGinest v. GTE Serv. Corp., 360 F.3d 1103, 1119 n.13 (9th Cir. 2004)
(holding “the authority to demand obedience from an employee makes a harasser a supervisor under the standard created in Faragher and Ellerth”); Whitten v. Fred’s, Inc., 601 F.3d
231, 245 (4th Cir. 2010) (“supervisory status is not determined solely by the ability to
take tangible employment actions”); Mack v. Otis Elevator Co., 326 F.3d 116, 125 (2d
Cir. 2003) (finding that the alleged harasser was a “supervisor” because he directed plaintiff ’s
work assignments and was “senior employee on the work site”).
173. See Smith v. City of Oklahoma City, 64 F. App’x 122, 127 (10th Cir. 2003) (because
harasser directed the victim’s daily tasks, “a reasonable jury could conclude that [he] was
[her] supervisor”); Dinkins v. Charoen Pokphand USA, Inc., 133 F. Supp. 2d 1254, 1266
(M.D. Ala. 2001) (harassment by person overseeing victim’s work assignments and performance implements vicarious employer liability).
174. U.S. EQUAL EMP’T OPPORTUNITY COMM’N, ENFORCEMENT GUIDANCE ON VICARIOUS
EMPLOYER LIABILITY FOR UNLAWFUL HARASSMENT BY SUPERVISORS, 8 FEP Manual (BNA)
405:7654 (1999), available at 1999 WL 33305874.
175. Respondent’s Brief at 2–3, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL 2368689 (No. 11-556).
176. Id. at 14. Vance claimed that Davis was “a salaried employee whom [BSU] designated
as a ‘supervisor.’ ” Plaintiff ’s Petition, supra note 150, at 6. BSU disputed this fact, claiming
that Davis was an hourly employee. Respondent’s Brief, supra note 175, at 3.
177. Respondent’s Brief, supra note 175, at 34.
178. Id. at 39, 46, 53.
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and recommended that the Court wait for a future case, with better facts, to
address the issue.179
In plaintiff ’s reply, Vance pointed out BSU’s omission of “any argument that the Seventh Circuit’s restrictive rule is correct or even permissible under Faragher/Ellerth.”180 Plaintiff also highlighted BSU’s failure to
dispute the existence of a conflict among the circuits and urged the Court
to intervene to create nationwide uniformity.181
Plaintiff disputed that Davis would not be a supervisor under any standard, stating that the lower courts did not analyze the issue under either
the EEOC guidelines or the standard adopted by the Fourth, Ninth, and
Second Circuits.182 Plaintiff also pointed to Davis’ job description, which
stated that she was responsible for leading, directing, and overseeing substitute and part-time employees.183
Because of the importance of this issue, numerous organizations filed
amicus curiae briefs. The United States filed a brief in support of neither
party.184 Two amici curiae briefs were filed on behalf of the petitioner—
one by the National Employment Lawyers Association (“NELA”) and
AARP,185 and another by the National Partnership for Women and
Families et al. (“NPWF”).186 The NELA and AARP urged the Court
to adopt the EEOC’s definition of supervisor to encourage employers
to “implement anti-harassment policies that apply to anyone who can
be reasonably viewed as a supervisor.”187 The NPWF sought to explain
social science research on the effects of supervisor workplace harassment

179. Id. at 53.
180. Plaintiff ’s Reply at 1, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL 2368689 (No. 11-556).
181. Id. at 1, 5.
182. Id. at 9.
183. Id. at 10.
184. Brief for United States as Amicus Curiae, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL
2368689 (No. 11-556). The United States agreed with Vance’s position that the Seventh
Circuit’s definition of “supervisor” was inconsistent with the Supreme Court’s holdings in
Faragher and Ellerth, as well as the EEOC’s guidance. Id. at 10. However, the United States
also argued that under the correct analysis, Davis probably would not qualify as Vance’s
supervisor because the record was devoid of any specific facts indicating that Davis directed
Vance’s day-to-day activities. Id. at 31–32.
185. AARP is a nonprofit and nonpartisan membership organization that promotes the
interests of people who are at least fifty years of age, including older workers.
186. The amici were comprised of the following organizations: 9to5, National Association of Working Women, Asian American Justice Center, Lawyers’ Committee for Civil
Rights Under Law, Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights, Legal Aid Society–Employment Law Center, Legal Momentum, National Partnership for Women & Families, National Women’s Law Center, Service Employees International Union, and Women
Employed.
187. Brief for NELA/AARP as Amici Curiae at 19, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL
2368689 (No. 11-556).
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and to encourage the Court to reject the Seventh Circuit’s definition of
“supervisor.”188
Four amicus/amici curiae briefs were filed on behalf of the respondent.
The American Council on Education (ACE) and Other Higher Education
Organizations, as well as the National Federation of Independent Business Small Business Legal Center and the Retail Litigation Center argued
that the petitioner’s proposed supervisor test did not make sense in nontraditional work situations or in small-business work environments that
are less hierarchical.189 The Society for Human Resource Management
and the College and University Professional Association for Human Resources declared that the EEOC’s “daily work activities” test was impracticable and vague.190 The Equal Employment Advisory Council rejected
both parties’ tests and proposed a new test.191
Regardless of whether the Supreme Court adopts the Second, Fourth,
and Ninth Circuits’ broad definition of supervisor; the First, Seventh, and
Eighth Circuits’ more restrictive definition; or creates an entirely new
standard, employers and employees throughout the United States will
be affected.

iv. state activism in employment
immigration reform
A. Arizona v. United States
On June 25, 2012, the Supreme Court issued its hotly anticipated decision
in Arizona v. United States.192 In this case, the U.S. government sought to
enjoin many provisions of Arizona’s Support Our Law Enforcement and
Safe Neighborhoods Act, more commonly known as S.B. 1070, arguing
that the statute was partially preempted by federal immigration law and,
therefore, unenforceable under Article VI, clause 2 of the U.S. Constitution, known as the Supremacy Clause.193 Specifically relevant to employers and employees alike was the administration’s challenge to § 5(C) of
188. Brief for NPWF as Amici Curiae at 1, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL 2368689
(No. 11-556).
189. See Brief for ACE as Amici Curiae at 2, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL 2368689
(No. 11-556); Brief for Small Business Legal Center as Amici Curiae at 5, Vance v. Ball State
Univ., 2012 WL 2368689 (No. 11-556).
190. Brief for SHRM as Amicus Curiae at 18, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL
2368689 (No. 11-556).
191. Brief for EEAC as Amicus Curiae at 6, Vance v. Ball State Univ., 2012 WL 2368689
(No. 11-556). EEAC argued that employers should be liable for harassment by individuals to
whom the “employer has delegated meaningful and substantial authority over terms and conditions of the victim’s employment.” Id.
192. 132 S. Ct. 2492 (2012).
193. S.B. 1070 §§ 2(B), 3, 5(C), and 6, which were challenged by the government, are codified as ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. §§ 11-1051(B), 13-1509, 13-2928(C), and 13-3883(A)(5).
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S.B. 1070, which imposed criminal sanctions on undocumented immigrants who sought or accepted employment within the state. Federal
law does not currently make those activities a crime.
The Supreme Court ruled that § 5(C) was facially preempted by the
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (“IRCA”) because it enacted
a state criminal prohibition where a federal one did not exist.194 Section
5(C) made it a state misdemeanor for “an unauthorized alien to knowingly
apply for work, solicit work in a public place or perform work as an
employee or independent contractor” in Arizona.195 S.B. 1070 made
such an offense punishable by a $2,500 fine and incarceration for up to
six months.196
While federal law currently imposes criminal sanctions upon the employers of undocumented immigrants, it does not criminally punish
those who seek or perform work as employees.197 Under the existing federal framework, there are two requirements on employers: a substantive
one, which prohibits employers from “knowingly” hiring a person unauthorized to work in the United States, and an administrative one, requiring all employers to verify the employment eligibility of all employees by
reviewing certain documents, such as a Social Security card or passport.198
If an employer is found to have committed a substantive violation, the
employer is subject to civil fines of $250 to $2,000 per unauthorized
employee hired.199 Additional subsequent substantive offenses carry
steeper fines ranging from $2,000 to $10,000 for each unauthorized
hire.200 If an employer commits an administrative violation, it can be assessed fines of $100 to $1,000 for each employee with nonconforming paperwork.201 Lastly, criminal penalties may be imposed on any employer
who “engages in a pattern or practice” of substantive violations.202
Prior to the IRCA’s enactment, federal law did not impose sanctions on
employers of undocumented workers, and the regulation field was effectively open for states to legislate those matters. In 1976, the Supreme
Court rejected a preemption challenge to a California law that prohibited
the knowing employment of undocumented workers, stating that states
had “broad authority under their police powers to regulate the employ194. See Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, Pub. L. No. 99-603, 100 Stat.
3359 (codified, as amended, at 8 U.S.C. §§ 1324a–1324b).
195. ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. § 13-2928(C).
196. See id. § 13-2928(F); see also id. §§ 13-707(A)(1), 13-802(A), 13-902(A)(5).
197. 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a).
198. INA § 274A(a)(1)(A), 8 U.S.C. § 1324A(a)(1)(A) (2000).
199. INA § 274A(e)(4)(A)(i), 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(e)(4)(A)(i) (2000).
200. INA § 274A(e)(4)(A)(ii)–(iii), 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(e)(4)(A)(ii)–(iii) (2000).
201. INA § 274A(e)(5), 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(e)(5) (2000).
202. The maximum criminal penalties are a $3,000 fine per unauthorized hire, imprisonment for up to six months, or both. INA § 274A(f )(1), 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(f )(1) (2000).
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ment relationship to protect workers within the State” and indicating that
it would “not presume” that Congress intended to oust state authority to
regulate this relationship, absent a demonstration that doing so was the
“clear and manifest purpose of Congress.”203 At the time, the Supreme
Court found such legislative intent lacking, given the absence of federal
regulation in the area of employment of undocumented immigrants.
In contrast, today the IRCA offers a comprehensive federal immigration law framework that, as the majority points out in Arizona, is “substantially different” from the one in existence in 1976 because it imposes penalties on the employers of undocumented immigrants.204 Furthermore,
the majority also considered the IRCA’s legislative background, which
underscores the fact that Congress considered and debated the option
of imposing criminal penalties on immigrants seeking or engaging in unauthorized employment and rejected it as “unnecessary and unworkable.”205 The Arizona Court found that the IRCA demonstrates a “considered judgment” that making criminals out of undocumented immigrants
seeking or accepting work in the United States would be inconsistent
with federal policy and objectives.206 Further, the Arizona Court found
the IRCA’s express preemption of state and local sanctions upon employers of undocumented immigrants, together with its silence as to sanctions
for unauthorized employees, as supporting an inference of preemption.207
State law is preempted where it “stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.”208 The Supreme Court, therefore, found that § 5(C) of S.B.
1070 would interfere with the careful balance struck by Congress with
respect to the unauthorized employment of undocumented immigrants,
203. DeCanas v. Bica, 424 U.S. 351, 357 (1976).
204. Arizona v. United States, 132 S. Ct. 2492, 2504 (2012). In particular, the majority
noted that while the IRCA constituted a comprehensive federal scheme for the regulation
of alien employment, it neither imposed criminal sanctions on unauthorized alien employees
nor permitted the use of information submitted in the process of determining eligibility for
work authorization for any purpose other than prosecution under specified federal statutes.
Id. (citing 8 U.S.C. § 1324a). These prohibitions upon the use of employment eligibility verification forms had previously factored in Justice Sotomayor’s dissenting opinion in Chamber
of Commerce v. Whiting, wherein she suggested that another Arizona law sanctioning employers of unauthorized aliens was expressly preempted by IRCA. See 131 S. Ct. 1968, 2001
(2011) (Sotomayor, J., dissenting).
205. U.S. IMMIGRATION POLICY AND THE NATIONAL INTEREST: THE FINAL REPORT AND
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE SELECT COMMISSION ON IMMIGRATION AND REFUGEE POLICY
WITH SUPPLEMENTAL VIEWS BY COMMISSIONERS 65–66 (1981); see Arizona, 132 S. Ct. at
2504 (quoting Pub. L. No. 95-412, § 4, 92 Stat. 907 (1978)).
206. See, e.g., Arizona, 132 S. Ct. at 2504 (quoting Hearings before the Subcomm. No. 1 of the
H. Comm. on the Judiciary, 92d Cong., 1st Sess., pt. 3, at 919–920 (1971) (statement of Rep.
Rodino, the eventual sponsor of the IRCA in the House of Representatives)).
207. Id. at 2505.
208. Hines v. Davidowitz, 61 S. Ct. 399 (1941).
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despite its attempt to achieve the same goals as federal law (the deterrence
of unlawful employment), because it involved a conflict in the method of
enforcement. In this case, the Court decided that the difference in
enforcement techniques by state and federal governments could potentially be as disruptive as a policy conflict and pose an “obstacle” to the regulatory system chosen by Congress. Therefore, the majority ruled, § 5(C)
was preempted by IRCA.
Justices Scalia, Thomas, and Alito dissented on the following theories:
(1) regulation of employment is within states’ traditional police powers
and (2) the IRCA does not expressly preempt state penalties for unauthorized aliens who seek or obtain employment. They explained that they
would have upheld § 5(C) pursuant to DeCanas v. Bica, which, in 1976,
upheld California’s prohibition over the knowing employment of undocumented immigrants on the basis that this area was then not regulated by
the federal government and that employment regulation was an area of
traditional state concern.209
In the face of strong dissent, this decision signals that opportunities are
quite limited for independent state action in the legislation and enforcement of immigration laws that affect the employment of undocumented
immigrants.
B. Trend in Other States
Although S.B. 1070 arguably represents the vanguard of state attempts to
test the legal limits of greater state involvement in immigration enforcement, many other states and localities have adopted measures intended to
deter the presence and employment of unauthorized aliens within their jurisdictions. Alabama, Arkansas, Louisiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevada, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South
Carolina, and Utah introduced, debated, and, in some cases, passed
laws inspired by or derived from S.B. 1070. Many of these jurisdictions
are still dealing with legal challenges to these laws.
1. Alabama
In June 2011, Alabama signed into law House Bill 56, titled the “BeasonHammon Alabama Taxpayer and Citizen Protection Act” (H.B. 56). The
stated purpose of the legislation is to discourage illegal immigration
within the state and maximize enforcement of federal immigration laws
through cooperation with federal authorities.210 In August 2012, the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit considered the U.S. government’s challenge to a total of ten provisions of H.B. 56. Among them
209. Arizona, 132 S. Ct. at 2525.
210. ALA. CODE § 31-13-2.
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were §§ 11, 16, and 17, which relate to the employment of undocumented
immigrants within the state.211 Section 11(a) criminalizes the knowing
application for work, solicitation of work, or performance of work by
an immigrant not authorized to work in the United States. Section 16 disallows employer state tax deductions for wages and compensation paid to
an undocumented immigrant.212 Under this rubric, an employer who
knowingly takes credit for a prohibited deduction is “liable for a penalty
equal to 10 times” the deduction claimed.213 Section 17 makes an employer’s termination of a U.S. citizen or failure to hire a U.S. citizen (or an
alien authorized to work in the United States), while simultaneously employing an unauthorized alien, a “discriminatory practice.”214 Employers
violating § 17 are subject to a state civil action for compensatory relief
and the potential payment of court costs and attorney fees if they do
not prevail in such action.215
At the initial challenge, the district court enjoined § 11(a) on the basis
that Congress, through the IRCA, intended to limit the employment of
undocumented immigrants by regulating the conduct of employers and
not employees. Following the Arizona ruling preempting a nearly identical
provision of S.B. 1070, and unable to find a “meaningful” distinction
between § 11(a) and the parallel provision in S.B. 1070, the Eleventh Circuit agreed with the district court and found that § 11(a) was preempted
by federal law.216
Sections 16 and 17 were similarly found to be preempted by the
IRCA.217 Section 16, which prohibited employers from deducting as a business expense in their state tax filings compensation paid to undocumented
immigrants, was deemed expressly preempted by 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(h)(2),
which preempts “any State or local law imposing civil or criminal sanctions
(other than through licensing and similar laws) upon those who employ, or
recruit or refer for a fee for employment, unauthorized aliens.”218
The court deliberated on the issue of whether the effects of the prohibition were deemed a “sanction.” Alabama argued that it was the withholding of a reward. The Eleventh Circuit deferred to a previous instruction from the Supreme Court that “[a]s a general matter, the meaning of
‘sanction’ is spacious enough to cover not only . . . punitive fines, but
211. United States v. Alabama, 2012 U.S. App. LEXIS 17516 (11th Cir. Aug. 20, 2012).
212. ALA. CODE § 31-13-16(a).
213. Id. § 31-13-16(b).
214. Id. § 31-13-17(a).
215. Id. § 31-13-17(b), (c).
216. In supplemental briefing after Arizona, Alabama acknowledged that § 11(a) was
preempted.
217. United States v. Alabama, 2012 U.S. App. LEXIS 17516, at *42–43 (11th Cir. Aug. 20,
2012).
218. 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(h)(2).
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coercive ones as well, and use of the term carries no necessary implication
that a reference to punitive fines is intended.”219 The court added that
through § 16, Alabama sought to coerce employers through the withholding of tax deductions and by imposing steep fines when an employer took
those deductions, and that it was “functionally indistinguishable” from a
monetary sanction.220
The court found that § 17, which attempted to create civil liability
for employers failing to hire or retain U.S. citizens or authorized workers,
while hiring undocumented immigrants, was also preempted by 8 U.S.C.
§ 1324a.221
In an analogous case, the Tenth Circuit considered a challenge to an
Oklahoma law subjecting employers to “cease and desist orders, reinstatement, back pay, costs, and attorneys’ fees” if they terminated a legal
worker while retaining an unauthorized alien employee.222 Like § 17,
the Oklahoma statute included punishments described as sanctions in
other parts of federal law, further providing support for federal law preemption. The Tenth Circuit held that an injunction was warranted, finding that the challenges to the law had a substantial likelihood of success on
the merits.223
2. Looking Ahead
The Supreme Court’s ruling in Arizona and the Eleventh Circuit’s decision in Alabama suggest that state efforts to impose criminal penalties
for violations of federal immigration law may be susceptible to facial challenges on preemption grounds. In addition, we could experience another
wave of litigation and “as applied” challenges to state laws that may
appear constitutional on their face but have a discriminatory impact.
The positive news for employers in light of the recent rulings is that
they will not be subject to fines or punishment beyond those set forth
in the IRCA, which have been widely known and relied upon by employers nationwide. Employers with presence in different states can also continue to operate under uniform employment practices. Similarly, individual undocumented employees do not have to fear criminal action for
engaging in unauthorized work. However, given the legislative trend in
in this area, employers and employees should remain vigilant of changes
in the law.
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